ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Barnwell County

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

SEP 10 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

MICHAEL KENNEDY,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002334  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUE PRESENTED

Trial counsel erred in failing to object to the personal opinions of a former circuit court judge who appeared at **all three** of petitioner's court proceedings and acted in the role of a solicitor by opposing petitioner's bond reduction and resentencing requests and asking for harsh sentencing as punishment for the criminal acts perpetrated upon a beloved local icon in order to gain community redemption and send a community message of zero tolerance for crime because such participation by the former judge was improper and the majority of the information submitted by the former judge was irrelevant to sentencing.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Michael C. Kennedy pled guilty to armed robbery and assault and battery with intent to kill on May 7, 2007, at the Barnwell County General Sessions Court before Judge Thomas A. Russo. Franchot A. Brown represented appellant at the plea proceeding, and Assistant Solicitor Benjamin R. Moore appeared on behalf of the state. Petitioner was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of thirty years on the armed robbery conviction and twenty years consecutive (suspended upon the service of ninety days and three years probation) on the conviction of assault and battery with intent to kill. App. 1 – 57. On June 26, 2007, a sentencing reconsideration hearing was held in the case, but ultimately Judge Russo denied the motion to reduce petitioner’s sentence. See Supplemental Appendix 1 - 45.

Petitioner appealed; but following the filing of an Anders Brief of Appellant, the appeal was ultimately dismissed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals on January 25, 2011. App. 59 – 72. See State v. Kennedy, Unpublished Op. No. 2011-UP-028 (January 25, 2011). App. 73. Petitioner was represented on appeal by M. Celia Robinson, formerly of the Office of Appellate Defense.

On February 22, 2011, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Barnwell County Office of the Clerk of Court alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel in his case. App. 74 – 76. The respondent filed a return dated August 4, 2011, requesting that a PCR hearing be held in response to petitioner’s PCR action. App. 77 – 80.

A PCR hearing was convened on July 9, 2013, at the Barnwell County Courthouse before Judge R. Ferrell Cothran. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Melissa J. Armstrong, and Assistant Attorney General David Spencer appeared on behalf of the state. App. 81 – 132. On August 19, 2013, Judge Cothran issued an Order of Dismissal denying petitioner’s PCR action. App. 134 – 140. Petitioner appealed, and this petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

Trial counsel erred in failing to object to the personal opinions of a former circuit court judge who appeared at **all three** of petitioner's court proceedings and acted in the role of a solicitor by opposing petitioner's bond reduction and resentencing requests and asking for a harsh sentencing as punishment for the criminal acts perpetrated upon a beloved local icon in order to gain community redemption for him and send a message of zero tolerance for crime because such participation by the former judge was improper and the majority of the information submitted by the former judge was irrelevant to sentencing.

During the plea proceeding, the solicitor apprised the trial judge of the facts of the case. On January 8, 2007, Lugene Tooks appeared at the home of eighty-seven-year old Thomas Richardson and hit him (Richardson) over the head with a bottle. Then, Tooks and Richardson tussled until petitioner assisted Tooks by putting Richardson on the ground. Richardson's wallet was taken by the two men who fled thereafter. App. 9, lines 10 – 16; Supp. App. 15, lines 1 – 5.

In the case at bar, petitioner's plea occurred immediately after a bond reduction hearing was held in the case. When the request to lower the bond (set at \$55,000.00) was denied, petitioner went on to plead guilty as charged. Former Circuit Court Judge Rodney A. Peeples was present at petitioner's bond reduction hearing, his guilty plea proceeding, and the resentencing hearing. At the bond reduction hearing, Judge Peeples voiced his objection to the request for a lower bond. At the guilty plea proceeding, Judge Peeples argued strongly in support of a harsh prison sentence for petitioner. Judge Peeples argued solicitor style to the effect that petitioner should receive a stiff sentence for the crimes perpetrated upon Richardson, who was their community icon, as proper retribution and as a way to send a message to the community that such conduct would not be tolerated.

For example, during the bond reduction hearing, which immediately preceded the guilty plea proceeding, Judge Peoples made the following remarks:

We submit without question it was premeditated...both of them had hoods over their head... Took with a quart liquor bottle hits him right in the forehead – stitches, blood flowing...[Mr. Richardson... wrestl[ed] Mr. Took, but then [petitioner]...jumps out of the bushes and literally picks Mr. Richardson up and body-slams him on the concrete and brick walkway. That's when he had that broken or fractured hip, and that's why for two months he couldn't get up and walk he was suffering so...and this has been a terrible thing that happened in the Barnwell community, and a lot of people are upset about it. App 12, l. 6 – p. 13, l. 5.

We think [the \$55,000] bond is too low, but...we would urge upon the seriousness of this matter, and these people living in fear of their life, and, hopefully, you will not see fit to reduce the bond because they have enough trouble sleeping at night worrying about somebody coming to their home and stealing...people have a right in the city of Barnwell, the county of Barnwell, the state of South Carolina to be safe and secure in their homes, but not be troubled by people like this who shouldn't remain on the street. App. 13, l. 14 – 25.

Also, during the plea proceeding, Judge Peoples stated the following:

Your Honor...[since petitioner] admit[ted] [his] guilt to such a horrendous crime as this it deserves a lot longer punishment in my view...but it is 0 to 50 or 10 to 50...[Mr. Richardson] has done more for poor people...It just isn't right...you can't buy and sell piece of mind, but it can be stolen from you, and that's what happened. App. 47, lines 6-24; App. 48, l. 7-13.

It just isn't right, your honor...but these people have not been able to sleep at night. They have suffered mentally. They suffered physically, and somewhere along the line we got to send a message to people. What kind of community do we have here if people can't have tranquility and peace in their own home? What kind of community to we live in where things like this happen...[The Richardsons] don't want people like this on the streets of Barnwell County...accountability breeds responsibility and you've got to have some accountability to the city of Barnwell, the county of Barnwell, and the state. App. 49, l. 21 – p. 50, l. 3; App. 50, l. 23; App. 51, lines 5-12.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified in effect that counsel did not perform effectively “as an attorney to get [him] a fair sentence.” App. 122, l. 14 – 17. PCR counsel argued that trial counsel erred in failing to object to certain “inflammatory and prejudicial” comments made at the sentencing phase of petitioner’s plea proceeding in light of the fact that this was an emotional case, and particularly since the trial judge commented that maybe petitioner’s sentence “perhaps would stop somebody else from [committing a crime such as this].” App. 86, l. 3 – 20.

Trial counsel testified at the hearing and explained that his attempt to negotiate a plea fell deal on deaf ears in effect due to Richardson’s good standing in the community,<sup>1</sup> but that nonetheless he thought the sentence should have been no more than ten-to-fifteen years, which is why he filed the motion to reconsider the sentence. App. 96, l. 10 – 15. App. 99, lines 17 – p. 100, l. 9. Counsel admitted that he failed to object to the inappropriate, impermissible, and prejudicial comments made by the circuit court judge in the case and testified regarding the matter as follows:

Q. Okay. Well, let me ask you this, once the plea got started, did you ever think that – some of the arguments made about the sort of – and I’m sure you’ve seen the application, send a message to the community – did you ever consider objecting to that sort of argument based on the case law in South Carolina that says those aren’t the source of arguments that need to be considered in determining a sentence? Did you ever consider objecting to any –

A. The statements by the state or by rather, Judge Peoples?

Q. Yes sir.

A. Yeah, yeah. Yeah.

Q. You did consider it? Or did consider objecting?

A. Well, I was greatly concerned about some comments made and I did not object. App.101, l. 14 – p. 102, l. 5.

---

<sup>1</sup> “[Richardson] was 86 years old and well known in the community and popular to most people” when these events occurred. App. 93, lines 15 – 17.

[The trial judge]... was fully aware that there were some concerns about the comments made by Rodney Peoples and his presentation... as I did too. App. 105, lines 19-25.

The PCR judge ruled that petitioner failed to establish ineffective assistance of trial counsel in the case because counsel's strategy of avoiding a confrontation, emphasizing petitioner's remorse, and believing that the trial judge could sort out inappropriate sentencing considerations were reasonable trial tactics and that as a result, counsel's assistance was not deficient. App 138-139.

A sentencing judge should know all material facts including any information material to punishment (such as the defendant's criminal record) prior to sentencing. State v. Franklin, 276 S.C. 240, 226 S.E.2d 896 (1976). Although a judge may consider generally broadly an unlimited amount of information; nonetheless, that information considered must be relevant to punishment. State v. Cantrell, 250 S.C. 376, 153 S.E.2d 189 (1967). For instance, compare the case of Simpkins v. Robinson, 2008 WL 3200740 (2008), emanating from Lexington County, South Carolina, where the defendant pled guilty to leaving the scene of an accident resulting in death and obstruction of justice and the Court held that the sentencing judge's inquiry into whether the accident was alcohol-related prior to sentencing the defendant was a relevant matter raised at sentencing despite the fact that the felony DUI offense charged against him had been dismissed.

To the contrary, the sentencing information presented to the trial judge in the case at bar went beyond petitioner's prior record, which he did not have, and into matters irrelevant to sentencing. For example, Judge Peoples made repeated and exaggerated references to the iconic status of Richardson, who helped so many in the community, and offered exaggerations of petitioner's body slamming Richardson when petitioner claimed that Richardson fell or was merely pushed to the ground. Supp. App. 14, lines 18-23. Additionally, references by the former judge to the effect that he and Richardson shared sweet corn at his house after Richardson's exit from the hospital were too

personal to remain under the category of sentencing information and clearly outside the topic heading of information relevant to punishment outlined in Franklin. Supp. App. 31, lines 17-20. The judge's spiel about how Richardson dutifully cared for his sick wife and the manner in which other people not connected to these events viewed what happened to Richardson became personal opinions that were immaterial to the facts of the case and the sentencing of petitioner. App. 48, lines 14-18. App. 49, lines 17-24. In short, the former judge's opinions presented at petitioner's court proceedings far exceeded the boundaries of presentable sentencing matter acceptable under Franklin.

More importantly, the very presence and influence of a former circuit court judge **at all three** of petitioner's court proceedings, who spoke in effect as an advocate for the state, i.e., a solicitor, in the case in and of itself went outside Franklin's sentencing information parameters. Undoubtedly, the judge's opinions constituted an improper influence that prejudiced petitioner's sentencing proceeding. Words uttered from a learned former circuit court judge who volunteered sentencing guidance regarding how to sentence petitioner violated his right to due process at sentencing.

Furthermore, it was error for the former judge to add arguments regarding the importance of using petitioner's sentence to serve as a conscience of the community message of zero tolerance for these types of crimes. This was also prejudicial and resulted in a denial of due process at petitioner's sentencing proceeding. By analogy, compare State v. Liberte, 336 S.C. 648, 521 S.E.2d 744 (1990), where the Court found that the argument urging jurors to convict a defendant in order to protect community values, preserve order, or deter future law breaking was improper. In Liberte, the solicitor in effect equated a drug conviction for the defendant with "keep[ing] drugs off our streets." Likewise, Judge Peebles' comments were in effect encouraging the trial judge to sentence petitioner in the harshest manner possible in order to make Barnwell County citizens feel safe and

strike a blow against crime. The former judge's conscience of the community comments denied petitioner of his right to a fair sentencing proceeding as the same interfered with the trial judge's duty to issue a sentence based on relevant information set forth in Franklin.

Had trial counsel objected to Judge Peeples' personal request for severe sentencing for petitioner as redemption for Richardson and his rally cry per the conscience of the community goal at petitioner's sentencing, then a reasonable probability exists that the sentence petitioner received would have been different. Counsel was aware that his inaction resulted in petitioner's receipt of an unfair sentence, which is why he filed a sentencing reconsideration motion, after which time a sentencing reconsideration hearing was held in the case. See Supplemental App. 1-45. Note that the former judge was present at the resentencing consideration hearing as well.

During that sentencing reconsideration hearing, the former judge's sales pitch became flat-out inflammatory and laced with character attacks against petitioner and extremely contentious arguments against lowering petitioner's sentence. For example, Judge Peeples turned up the heat and attacked petitioner's mitigation evidence by arguing that petitioner's youthful age of 19 meant nothing and did not mitigate the crimes committed or render the crimes lessened, and that he was lucky that he did not get the maximum fifty-five-year sentence, **and** that in light of how much Richardson suffered, "we should get on our knees and thank the Lord that Richardson is still [alive]." Supp. App 28, lines 1-24; Supp. App. 30, lines 17-19. Petitioner was 18 years old when the crime was committed and 19 years old at sentencing. App. 7, lines 22-24; Supp. App 13, l. 22. Judge Peeples added that petitioner was "mean" and filled with premeditated ill-will, and that he "probably" had a juvenile criminal record, and "probably" the crimes for money to buy drugs. Supp. App. 31, lines 4-13; Supp. App. 33, lines 5-8; Supp. App. 32, l. 19. The truth was that petitioner had no prior record. Supp. App. 13, lines 23-25. Additionally, Judge Peeples brought out

the conscience of the community argument **again** and reminded the trial judge that petitioner's sentence was directly connected and inextricably linked to the local citizens' right to feel safe in their homes. Supp. App. 29, lines 9-13; Supp. App. 31, lines 14-17; Supp. App. 33, lines 10-17. Judge Peoples concluded that he "[felt] strongly" that petitioner "deserved" to be in jail. Supp. App. 32, lines 16-17

Apparently, Judge Peoples' solicitor style argument had an affect on the trial judge because he denied petitioner's motion to reconsider his sentence and went on to adopt the following conscience of the community rationale in support of his decision to deny resentencing as follows: