STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO BARNWELL COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

2011-CP-06-0088
Appellate Case No. 2013-002334

RECEIVED

NOV 26 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

Michael Kennedy Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DANIEL GOURLEY
Assistant Attorney General
Bar No. 100934

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether probative evidence supports the Post-Conviction Relief Court's finding that Plea Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the presence and comments made by retired Circuit Court Judge Rodney Peeples on behalf of the Victim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Barnwell County Clerk of Court. The Petitioner was indicted at the May 2007 term of the Barnwell County Grand Jury for Armed Robbery (2007-GS-06-0144); Assault and Battery with Intent to Kill (ABWIK) (2007-GS-06-0145); and Conspiracy (2007-GS-06-0146). Petitioner was represented by Franchot A. Brown, Esquire. On May 7, 2007, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo and pled guilty to Armed Robbery and ABWIK. Pursuant to the plea agreement, the conspiracy charge was dismissed. Judge Russo sentenced Petitioner to thirty years imprisonment for Armed Robbery and a consecutive twenty years imprisonment, suspended to three years probation upon the service of ninety days imprisonment, for ABWIK.

A notice of appeal was filed at the South Carolina Court of Appeals. M. Celia Robinson, Esquire, submitted a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 US. 738 (1967). The Court of Appeals dismissed the Applicant's appeal by Order dated January 25, 2011. The remittitur was issued on February 10, 2011.

Petitioner filed an application for PCR on February 22, 2011 (2011-CP-06-0088). The State made its Return on or about August 4, 2011, and the matter was scheduled for an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable Ralph F. Cothran, Jr., on July 8, 2013. Petitioner was present and represented by Melisa J. Armstrong, Esquire. The State was represented by David Spencer of the Office of the South Carolina Attorney General. In a written order signed August 19, 2013, Judge Cothran denied and dismissed Petitioner's application with prejudice. Petitioner appealed Judge Lee's order of dismissal.

This Return to the Petition of Writ of Certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “*any* evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief court’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989) (emphasis added). Appellate courts give great deference to the PCR Court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000).

ARGUMENT

Probative evidence supports the Post-Conviction Relief Court's finding that Plea Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the presence and comments made by retired Circuit Court Judge Rodney Peeples on behalf of the Victim?

Petitioner alleges that Counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the presence and comments of a retired Circuit Court judge (Judge Peeples) on the victim's behalf. Petitioner further alleges that if Counsel had objected, Petitioner would have received a sentencing hearing that "comported with due process and the outcome of his sentence might have been different."

The Respondent respectfully submits Petitioner's argument is without merit. There is substantial evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court's finding that Petitioner's right to effective assistance of counsel was not violated.

In a post-conviction relief action, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where an application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether Petitioner's attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, *citing* Strickland. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. With respect to guilty plea counsel, the Applicant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985).

In the instant case, Petitioner cannot show that Counsel's performance in failing to object to Judge Peoples' comments during sentencing was deficient because Counsel was acting pursuant to a valid trial strategy. App. p. 138. "[W]hen [C]ounsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (*citing* Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)). Counsel indicated during the PCR evidentiary hearing that he did not want a contentious plea hearing, but instead hoped to "basically show the judge that [Petitioner] was somebody who deserved leniency." App. p. 104, l. 13-20. Counsel was not sure objecting to Judge Peoples' comments "would have helped [the] situation...." App. p. 104, l. 24-25. Furthermore, Counsel considered the sentencing judge capable of sorting out any inappropriate considerations in determining a just sentence. App. p. 105, l. 2-10. Counsel had thoroughly researched the sentencing judge, finding that he had "a positive reputation for being

fair,” particularly with his experience as both a solicitor and a defense attorney. App. p. 98, l. 23 – p. 99, l. 3.

Consistent with this strategy, the PCR Court found that Counsel made a “well-presented plea for mitigation.” App. p. 138. Counsel pointed out that Petitioner had no prior record and came from a good family. App. p. 40, l. 2-5. Counsel told the court that there were no drugs involved, and that Petitioner was enrolled in a G.E.D. program in Aiken. App. p. 38, l. 20-25. Counsel also stated that Petitioner had “never been in any trouble before in his life” and had “just never done anything wrong.” App. p. 38, l. 18-20. Counsel said that he knew Petitioner was “very sorry for what he had done,” and that he had just “[done] something super stupid.” App. p. 38, l. 17 – p. 39, l. 3. Based on the foregoing, it is clear that probative evidence supports the PCR Court’s findings that Counsel provided a valid strategic reason for not objecting to Judge Peeples’ comments.

Furthermore, Petitioner can show no prejudice as a result of Counsel’s alleged deficiency. Petitioner argues that “words uttered from a learned former circuit court judge who volunteered sentencing guidance regarding how to sentence [P]etitioner violated his right to due process at his sentencing,” and that Judge Peeples’ opinions “[u]ndoubtedly ... constituted an improper influence.” On the contrary, according to the PCR Court, the reason for the duration of Petitioner’s lawful sentence was the “particularly mean and brutal” nature of the crime. App. p. 138. This conclusion is supported by the words of the sentencing judge, noting that while some people would say that the Judge Peeples’ appearance on behalf of the family would “affect the judgment of the court,” the major considerations were “the facts and circumstances surrounding [the] crime.” Supp. App. p. 35, l. 25 – p. 36, l. 6; p. 40, l. 25 – p. 41, l. 1. Most troubling was the fact that Petitioner did not ask the victim for money first, but instead “led with a bottle” and

struck the victim almost immediately. Supp. App. p. 55, l. 4-8. The sentencing judge emphasized, in particular, how awful these specific circumstances were, noting that he could not “express how horrible this armed robbery was,” even though he “[saw] them all the time.” Supp. App. p. 41, l. 10-11. In light of these circumstances, the sentencing judge stated that Judge Peoples’ presence had no impact on Petitioner’s lawful sentence. Supp. App. p. 35, l. 25 – p. 36, l. 6.

Furthermore, Petitioner points to no legitimate reason that the sentencing judge should have declined to hear from Judge Peoples. Prior to determining what sentence to impose, “a judge may appropriately conduct an inquiry broad in scope, *largely unlimited* either as to the kind of information he may consider or *the source from which it may come.*” State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976) (emphasis added). The record reflects that the sentencing judge conducted a broad inquiry in trying to determine an appropriate sentence and in determining whether that sentence was appropriate upon reconsideration. See App. p. 52-57; Supp. App. p. 36-45. The sentencing judge heard from Petitioner, his family, and prominent community members who spoke on his behalf. App. p. 45-446; Supp. App. p. 4-13. The sentencing judge also heard from the State. Supp. App. p. 22-24.

The State would further point out that Petitioner’s argument, logically applied, extends to *all* retired judges acting as defense attorneys or solicitors in South Carolina—many of whom would presumably be surprised to learn that the sentencing recommendations they make on behalf of their clients offend the principles of due process. Bearing in mind that serving as a Circuit Court judge is not a permanent bar to practicing criminal law in South Carolina, the

Respondent would simply submit that Petitioner has submitted no evidence tending to prove that Judge Peeples' presence or comments were actually inappropriate.¹

Because the sentencing judge specifically stated for the record that the facts and nature of the crime were the reasons for Petitioner's lawful sentence duration, and that Judge Peeples' statements were not a factor, Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's failure to object to Judge Peeples' statements or presence.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State submits that the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.